Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-19-2012

Hansen v. Roberts Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38904

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a car crash case which caused injuries to Hansen and property damage to Roberts' vehicle.

II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE TRIAL COURT

The case was tried to a jury and a verdict was returned finding both parties negligent. The jury determined that Hansen was 90 percent at fault and Roberts was 10 percent at fault. The jury awarded damages to Roberts in the amount of \$3,776.82.

The case was originally assigned to the Honorable Gregory Anderson until he retired, shortly before trial. The Honorable Jon Shindurling presided briefly over the case but assigned the case to the Honorable William H. Woodland for trial. The Honorable Dane H. Watkins is currently presiding over the case.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Hansen made a right hand turn into a business parking stall when his vehicle was struck on the passenger side by Roberts, who attempted to pass Hansen on the right. The point of impact occurred where the road approached an intersection and started to widen from a single lane to three lanes: a left turn lane, straight lane, and a right turn lane.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

ISSUE #1: Whether the trial court erred in allowing Roberts to introduce expert opinion testimony from an accident reconstructionist and biomechanical engineer when (1) Roberts' expert disclosures were untimely and insufficient, (2) the testimony invaded the jury's province, and (3) there was a lack of foundation to support the opinions.

ISSUE #2: Whether the court erred by ruling that Hansen waived the right to object at trial to the introduction of portions of Roberts' deposition.

ISSUE #3: Whether the trial court erred by precluding Hansen from questioning the voir dire panel regarding employment or association with insurance companies or risk management.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

ISSUE #1: Expert Testimony

A. Exclusion of Witnesses Due to Non-Compliance with Scheduling Order and Untimely Discovery Responses

A trial court has authority to sanction parties for non-compliance with pretrial orders. The imposition of sanctions for non-compliance with pretrial orders and untimely discovery responses is committed to the discretion of the trial court, and will not be overturned absent a manifest abuse of that discretion. When determining whether a district court abused its discretion, this Court considers three factors: (1) whether the trial

court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion, (2) whether it acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable legal principles, and (3) whether it reached its decision through an exercise of reason. *See Edmunds v. Kraner*, 142 Idaho 867, 136 P.3d 338 (Idaho 2006).

B. Admission of Expert Testimony

This Court reviews trial court decisions admitting or excluding evidence, including the testimony of expert witnesses, under the abuse of discretion standard. *Morris By and Through Morris v. Thomson*, 130 Idaho 138, 144, 937 P.2d 1212, 1218 (1997). In the case of an incorrect ruling regarding evidence, a new trial is merited only if the error affects a substantial right of one of the parties. *Id*.

ISSUE #2: Error Regarding Waiver of Deposition Objections

This Court reviews errors regarding admissibility of evidence under a harmless error standard. An error is harmless unless a different result would have been probable had the error not occurred. *See Davidson v. Beco Corp.*, 112 Idaho 560, 733 P.2d 781 (Idaho Ct. App. 1987) and Idaho R. Civ. P. 61.

ISSUE #3: Voir Dire

The standard of review for a district court's limitations on jury voir dire is an abuse of discretion standard. See State v. Bitz, 93 Idaho 239, 244, 460 P.2d 374, 379 (1969).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE #1: The trial court erred in allowing Roberts to introduce expert opinion testimony from an accident reconstructionist and biomechanical engineer when (1) Roberts' pretrial expert disclosures were untimely and insufficient, (2) the testimony invaded the jury's province, and (3) there was a lack of foundation to support the opinions because they were not scientifically reliable.

A. Roberts' Disclosures Were Untimely and Insufficient

The trial court abused its discretion by allowing Roberts to introduce expert testimony from expert witnesses when Roberts violated the trial court's scheduling order and failed to make timely and sufficient pretrial disclosures pursuant to discovery requests. "This Court reviews trial court decisions admitting or excluding evidence, including the testimony of expert witnesses, under the abuse of discretion standard." Morris By and Through Morris v. Thomson, 130 Idaho 138, 144, 937 P.2d 1212, 1218 (1997) and See Edmunds v. Kraner, 142 Idaho 867, 136 P.3d 338 (Idaho 2006). When determining whether a district court abused its discretion, this Court considers three factors: (1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion, (2) whether it acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable

legal principles, and (3) whether it reached its decision through an exercise of reason. See Edmunds v. Kraner, 142 Idaho 867, 136 P.3d 338 (Idaho 2006).

This Court has previously held that a trial court abused its discretion and committed reversible error by allowing expert testimony that was not properly disclosed in violation of rule 26. See Radmer v. Ford Motor Co., 120 Idaho 86, 813 P.2d 897 (1991). This Court explained in Radmer the purpose of the rule requiring pretrial expert witness disclosures:

It is fundamental that opportunity be had for full cross-examination, and this cannot be done properly in many cases without resort to pretrial discovery, particularly when expert witnesses are involved. . . . Before an attorney can even hope to deal on cross-examination with an unfavorable expert opinion he [or she] must have some idea of the bases of that opinion and the data relied upon. If an attorney is required to await examination at trial to get this information, he [or she] often will have too little time to recognize and expose vulnerable spots in the testimony.

Id.

The burden of providing the disclosures is on the party intending to introduce the testimony. See Clark v. Klein, 45 P.3d 810 (Idaho 2002). Thus, this Court held in Clark that the trial court erred by shifting the burden to the adverse party to file a motion to compel the disclosure when the party introducing the expert testimony failed to make timely or sufficient disclosures. See id. at n. 1.

Additionally, rule 26(e)(1)(B) requires a party to "seasonably" supplement discovery responses directed at expert discovery. The trial court may exclude testimony

offered by a party who failed to seasonably supplement a disclosure. See Idaho R. Civ. P. 26(e)(4). "[A]n important inquiry in determining whether a response was given 'seasonably' is: was the opposing party given an opportunity for full cross examination?" Edmunds v. Kraner, 142 Idaho 867, 136 P.3d 338 (Idaho 2006).

In making its decision on whether to impose a sanction, the trial court should request an explanation of the late disclosure, weigh the importance of the testimony in question, determine the time needed for preparation to meet the testimony, and consider the possibility of a continuance. *See Viehweg v. Thompson*, 103 Idaho 265, 647 P.2d 311 (Idaho Ct. App. 1982).

In this case, the trial court entered a scheduling order requiring each party to disclose the identity of expert witnesses at least 90 days before trial. See R. Vol. I, p. 34. The scheduling order precluded either party from conducting discovery after 70 days before trial and required all discovery to be submitted so that responses would be due prior to the discovery cutoff date. See R. p. 35 and n.2.

The following timeline shows relevant expert discovery and disclosure dates:

November 23, 2009 – Hansen Serves Rule 26(b)(4) Interrogatory on Roberts. See R. Vol. I, p. 1.

July 21, 2010 - Expert Witness Identity Disclosure Deadline. See R. Vol. I, p. 34.

July 21, 2010 – Roberts Discloses Scott Kimbrough as Potential Expert Witness. See R. Vol. I, p. 38.

August 9, 2010 - Discovery Cutoff. See R. Vol. I, p. 34.

August, 2010 – Roberts Retains Scott Kimbrough. See Tr. Vol. I, p. 379, LL. 17-25.

September 24, 2010 – Roberts Provides Partial Rule 26(b)(4) Answer to Interrogatory for Scott Kimbrough. See R. Vol. I, p. 86.

September 29, 2010 – Roberts Hires John Droge. See R. Vol. I, p. 111.

October 1, 2010 – Roberts Discloses John Droge to Hansen. See R. Vol. I, p. 111.

October 4, 2010 – Roberts Provides Partial Rule 26(b)(4) Answer to Interrogatory for John Droge. See R. Vol. I, p. 119.

October 19, 2010 – Roberts Provides Hansen with Scene Diagram Created by Scott Kimbrough. See Tr. Vol. I., p. 359, LL. 8-10.

October 19, 2010 – Trial. See R. Vol. I, p. 34.

Prior to the examination by Roberts of his expert witnesses, Hansen sought exclusion of the experts. The trial court held a hearing outside the presence of the jury. During the hearing, Hansen's counsel informed the court of the late and incomplete disclosures. Hansen's counsel pointed out to the court that the disclosures only came a couple of weeks before trial and that they did not include a disclosure of compensation,

prior cases in which they had testified at trial or deposition, and in Droge's case, the basis of his opinions or the data he used to support his opinions. *See* Tr. Vol. I., pp. 328-332.

Roberts' counsel noted that Hansen did seek rule 26(b)(4) disclosures but suggested that her disclosures were timely even though they were made just before trial and well past the expert disclosure deadlines imposed by the court's scheduling order. See Tr. Vol. I., p. 332, LL. 13-25 through p. 333, L. 23. Roberts' counsel argued that Hansen should have filed a motion to compel or a motion in limine to address the issue at a prior time. See Tr. Vol. I., p. 333, LL. 16-23.

The trial court listened to arguments of counsel and then summarily ruled that the experts would testify:

THE COURT: All right. They will be allowed to testify.

MR. GORDON: Based on what, the identity of Dr. Droge? He wasn't even told — we didn't even know until —

THE COURT: Your objection is noted.

Tr. Vol. I., p. 338, LL. 10-16.

As noted above, a trial court abuses its discretion by failing to (1) perceive the issue as one of discretion, (2) act within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable legal principles, and (3) reach its decision through an exercise of reason. The trial court failed on all three accounts. The trial court's conclusory ruling does not

satisfy its obligation to perceive the issues as one of discretion, provide the parties or this Court any indication that it reached it's decision through an exercise of reason, or determine whether it acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable legal principles. Instead, the parties and this Court are left to speculate as to the reasoning behind the trial court's ruling.

To the extent the trial court relied on Roberts' counsel's argument that the burden was on Hansen to file a motion to compel, that reasoning clearly violates the second prong of the abuse of discretion test. *See Clark v. Klein*, 45 P.3d 810, 814 n. 1 and 815 (Idaho 2002) (holding that trial judge's decision to allow expert testimony despite untimely rule 26(b)(4) disclosures failed the second part of test by indicating "that the burden was on Appellants to file a motion to compel the substance of the testimony.").

Further, as this Court pointed out in *Edmunds*, the trial court should determine whether the discovery responses were "seasonably" supplemented by affording Hansen with an opportunity for full cross examination. This Court in *Edmunds* held that a supplemental disclosure made eight months before trial was not an abuse of discretion because it gave the opposing party an opportunity to undertake additional discovery and prepare a cross examination. Unlike the disclosing party in *Edmunds*, Roberts' supplemental discovery providing *partial* 26(b)(4) disclosures did not come until after the discovery cutoff deadline and just weeks before trial.

Particularly disturbing was the production of a scene diagram created by Kimbrough and produced on the day of trial. The trial court admitted the diagram into evidence without any explanation or reasoning supporting its ruling. *See* Tr. Vol. I., p. 359, LL. 6-11.

The trial court abused its discretion by summarily ruling that Roberts' experts could testify when the trial court failed to (1) perceive the issue as one of discretion, (2) act within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable legal principles, and (3) reach its decision through an exercise of reason. The case law provided by Hansen shows similar examples where this Court has found an abuse of discretion when trial courts admit expert testimony when the disclosures were untimely and violated the trial court's scheduling order or were made shortly before trial. This Court has noted that untimely disclosures preclude the opposing party from preparing an effective cross examination of the witness. A new trial is warranted because the trial court's abuse of discretion affected a substantial right of Hansen – the ability to effectively prepare a cross-examination of Roberts' expert witnesses. Accordingly, Hansen respectfully requests that this Court vacate the judgment and remand the case to the trial court for a new trial.

B. Kimbrough Invaded the Province of the Jury

The trial court erred in allowing Kimbrough to testify about whether Hansen or Roberts were negligent because it is inappropriate to allow an expert to provide testimony on subjects that are not beyond the common sense of the average juror. Expert testimony is allowed if it will assist the trier of fact. *See* Idaho R. Evid. 702. However, expert testimony is not allowed where the normal experience and qualifications of lay jurors permit them to draw proper conclusions from given facts and circumstances. *See Rockefeller v. Grabow*, 136 Idaho 637, 647; 39 P.3d 577, 588 (Idaho 2001) and *State v. Hester*, 114 Idaho 688, 695; 760 P.2d 27, 34 (Idaho 1988) (noting that expert testimony is not admissible if the expert is not better equipped than a lay person). Further, an expert may not enter the realm of fact-finding that is well within the capacity of a lay jury and render an opinion regarding the weight of disputed evidence. *See State v. Hester*, 114 Idaho 688, 696; 760 P.2d 27, 35 (Idaho 1988).

Kimbrough testified that the accident was caused by Hansen's careless right hand turn. See Tr. Vol. I., p. 357, LL. 14-17. Kimbrough developed his opinion by reading the police report, reading Hansen's deposition, looking at the accident site on Google Earth, visiting the accident site, and speaking with an ex-highway patrolman. See Tr. Vol. I., p. 356, L. 7 through p. 357, L. 4. Kimbrough testified that his opinions were based on his personal weighing of the evidence. See Tr. Vol. I., p. 374 L. 15 through p. 375, L. 15.

Kimbrough testified that he is no better than the jury in weighing the evidence. *See* Tr. Vol. I., p. 375, LL. 5-15. Kimbrough testified that Roberts' conduct was reasonable and that Hansen's conduct was not reasonable. *See* Tr. Vol. I., p. 369, L. 19 through p. 370, L. 22.

Jurors are presumably drivers or have driven in cars and are adequately qualified to determine whether Hansen or Roberts' actions are negligent. Kimbrough did nothing beyond review the evidence that was presented to the jurors to reach his conclusions. Kimbrough's testimony did not assist the jury to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in the case. Instead, his testimony was, admittedly, simply his own interpretation of the facts after he personally weighed the evidence. Kimbrough admitted that the jury was just as qualified as him to come to its own conclusions regarding the fault of the parties. Accordingly, the trial court erred by admitting Kimbrough's own personal opinions about the fault of the parties since his testimony was within the normal experience and qualifications of lay jurors.

The trial court abused its discretion by failing to recognize that the admissibility of expert testimony is a matter of discretion, by failing to act within the outer boundaries of that discretion and consistent with applicable legal standards, and reach its decision through the exercise of reason. As was the case for the late disclosures, the trial court made a conclusory ruling that Kimbrough could testify so there was no acknowledgment

by the trial court that the ruling was a matter of discretion and there was no record that the trial court reached its decision through the exercise of reason. Further, the trial court did not act consistent with applicable legal standards because expert testimony is not admissible to testify regarding the negligence of drivers involved in an automobile crash.

This Court should vacate the judgment and remand the case for a new trial because the trial court abused its discretion by admitting Kimbrough's testimony. A new trial is warranted because the trial court's abuse of discretion affected a substantial right of Hansen – the ability to have the case decided by a jury of peers without an invasion of the jury's province by Roberts' paid expert.

C. Droge's Testimony was not Scientifically Reliable

The trial court erred in allowing Droge testify because Roberts failed to provide adequate foundation that Droge's testimony was scientifically reliable. Expert testimony is only admissible if it is based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge and will assist the trier of fact. *See* Idaho R. Evid. 702.

To determine whether scientific knowledge will assist the trier of fact, a trial court must make a two-step inquiry: (1) determine that the underlying scientific principles are reliable and (2) determine that the scientific principles or methodology were properly applied by the expert. *See State v. Perry*, 139 Idaho 520, 522; 81 P.3d 1230, 1232 (Idaho 2003) (noting that a trial court must make a "preliminary assessment of whether the

reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is scientifically valid and of whether that reasoning or methodology properly can be applied to the facts in issue.").

For example, this Court found that expert testimony regarding polygraph test results was not admissible and that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the test results because polygraph testing was not shown to be scientifically reliable. *See id.* at 524-25, and 1234-35. So in *Perry*, the first step of the inquiry – showing that the underlying scientific principles were reliable – was not established.

In *State v. Williamson*, 144 Idaho 597, 600; 166 P.3d 387, 390 (Idaho Ct. App. 2007), the court of appeals held that laser speed detection devices are scientifically reliable. It made that determination based, in part, on case law from other jurisdictions accepting the reliability of laser speed detection. However, the court of appeals noted that the State still had to meet the second step of admissibility by showing that the officer using a laser device was qualified, that the unit was properly maintained, and that it was used correctly. *Id*.

Biomechanical engineering is not necessarily scientifically reliable. In 2008, the Nevada Supreme Court, after affirming the trial court's exclusion of expert testimony by a biomechanical engineer, noted that, unlike radar detection devices, it was not aware of any jurisdiction that had judicially noticed the general reliability of biomechanical

engineering or its ability to assess the cause of personal injuries in automobile accidents. See Hallmark v. Eldridge, 189 P.3d 646, 653 (Nev. 2008).

On the contrary, the Nevada Supreme Court cited to a number of cases that excluded testimony from a biomechanical engineer because it was not reliable. One case that is highly relevant is *Reali v. Mazda Motor of Am., Inc.*, 106 F. Supp. 2d 75 (D. Me. 2000). In *Reali*, the court excluded a biomechanical engineer's testimony regarding accident forces because the court found that the methodology used to determine the forces was unreliable. The biomechanical engineer determined that the Delta V, or change in velocity of the vehicle, was 12 m.ph. Knowing the change in velocity would allow the engineer to calculate the forces imposed on a passenger in the vehicle and then render an opinion whether those forces were sufficient to cause an injury. The biomechanical engineer derived the Delta V by assumptions made from viewing photographs of the damaged automobile. The court found that no evidence was presented to show that eyeballing property damage photographs was an acceptable method to derive Delta V.

In this case, Roberts did not lay the foundation showing that biomechanical engineering is scientifically reliable. Instead, Roberts merely asked Droge what biomechanical engineering was and whether he had a degree in biomechanical engineering. See Tr. Vol. I., p. 392 L. 13 through p. 393, L. 9. Thus, Roberts did not lay

a foundation to meet the first step of the analysis – to show that biomechanical engineering is scientifically reliable in determining the causation of injuries in car crashes.

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