# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-13-2012

# Hansen v. Roberts Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38904

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

their testimonies regarding the same did not invade the province of the jury as to its determination of whether the defendant was or was not guilty of having driven a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol. *Id.*, 147 Idaho at 896-897, 216 P.3d at 654-655.

Likewise, in the present case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the testimony and opinions of Scott Kimbrough. Scott Kimbrough is a qualified expert regarding accident reconstruction. His testimony assisted the jury in determining facts in issue in the case, specifically, the events which occurred during the subject traffic collision. His testimony and opinions did not invade the province of the jury regarding its determination of liability as to the subject collision, or of negligence. Scott Kimbrough never testified about a duty on the part of either party or a breach of any duty. He never testified about fault or responsibility. Instead, he provided information not known to the jury and not within the common knowledge of the jury. He testified about the configuration of the intersection, how traffic flows through this intersection, and how many lanes were present in the unmarked area where the accident occurred. Tr. p. 360, L. 12 through p. 362, L. 19; p. 366, LL.1-16; p. 361, LL. 8-15. During cross-examination by plaintiff's counsel, Scott Kimbrough testified about mechanical drag, stopping/slowing distances and deceleration of vehicles. Tr. p. 371, L. 3 through p. 372, L. 19. Upon further questioning from plaintiff's counsel, Scott Kimbrough testified regarding the speeds of the vehicles prior to impact and at the time of impact. Tr. p. 375, LL. 16-21; p. 377, L. 17 through p. 378, L. 22.

None of these issues are within the common knowledge of a layperson, and have been testified to on numerous occasions in Idaho courtrooms. *See eg. Harris v. Sawtelle Rentals, Inc.*, 133 Idaho 199, 203, 984 P2d. 122, 126 (1999) (accident reconstructionist expert testified to speed, critical speed of subject curve, defendant's speed exceeded critical speed of curve). Therefore, the trial court properly admitted Scott Kimbrough's testimony.

Defendant respectfully submits the testimony of Scott Kimbrough did not invade the province of the jury, and the judgment in this matter should stand.

# C. <u>Issue Regarding John Droge Is Moot Due To Comparative Negligence</u> <u>Finding By Jury; John Droge's Area Of Expertise Is Valid, Scientifically</u> <u>Reliable; Plaintiff Failed To Preserve Objections</u>

Next, Plaintiff claims the testimony of defendant's biomechanical/biomedical engineer, John Droge, should not have been allowed because defendant failed to provide adequate foundation for the same. A review of the trial transcript on this issue shows not only that there was sufficient foundation, but also that plaintiff declined to question the witness in aid of his own objection, and further did not object to specific questions during the testimony.

Nevertheless, preliminarily, again, it must be noted the jury in this matter found Mr. Hansen 90 percent negligent, and Matthew Roberts 10 percent negligent. The jury verdict form was such that the jury was asked to address the causation questions prior to determining percentages of negligence of each party. R. p. 204-206. However, per Idaho Code §6-801, since plaintiff Mr. Hansen's negligence was **greater than** defendant Matthew Roberts' negligence, **plaintiff could not recover any damages, no matter how the jury answered the causation question.** I.C. §6-801. John Droge's testimony was purely related to the question of causation, and in particular whether the subject accident could have caused Mr. Hansen's claimed injuries. Tr. p. 393, LL. 14-24.

Therefore, even if there was an error on the part of the trial court in allowing John Droge's testimony, it was harmless error, at best. An appellate court will not reverse the district court if the alleged error is harmless. *Myers v. Workmen's Auto Ins. Co.*, 140 Idaho 495, 504, 95 P.3d 977, 986 (2004). "[I]f an error did not affect a party's substantial rights or the error did not affect the result of the trial, the error is harmless and not grounds for reversal." *Id. See Martin v.* 

Hackworth, 127 Idaho 68, 70, 896 P.2d 976, 978 (1995); Soria v. Sierra Pac. Airlines, Inc., 111 Idaho 594, 608, 726 P.2d 706, 718 (1986).

Plaintiff does not provide this Court any argument or proof that a substantial right has been affected by John Droge's testimony. Moreover, any error regarding the same cannot be deemed to have affected the outcome of the trial, and was harmless.

However, defendant will address the substance of plaintiff's arguments in the instance the

appellant court disagrees with his position regarding harmless error. The following is the

exchange that occurred at trial during John Droge's testimony:

Q (MS. BRIZEE): What opinions have you formulated as a result of your review and investigation in this matter?

MR. GORDON: Objection, Your Honor. I object to the foundation. To the extent he's going to testify as a biomechanical engineer, there's been no foundation laid to show that that scientific—whether scientific evidence that's even been—

THE COURT: You may examine in aid of objection if you desire.

MR. GORDON: I don't. I just – biomechanical engineering isn't considered a legitimate scientific –

THE COURT: I'm going to overrule the objection. If you feel more foundation would be appropriate, Ms. Brizee, you may proceed how you desire.

Q (MS. BRIZEE): Well, Dr. Droge, let's deal with this. What is the science of biomechanical engineering?

A (DR. DROGE): Biomechanical engineering is just take your engineering principles, principles of physics and math and applying them to the human body. In mechanical engineering, you would take a structure, and you would decide what kind of forces it would take to fail that structure, whether it's a building or a, you know, a metal pole or something. In biomechanical engineering what we do is we take that same analysis and we just look at what kind of forces it's going to take to fail structures of the human body.

Q: Is that the same as biomedical engineering?

A: There are a few different terms, and they are all related, yes. I like the term biomechanics, because it refers to mechanical engineering in the title, but bioengineering, yes.

Q: And, in fact, your master of science is from the Department of Biomedical Engineering at the University of Utah, correct?A: Correct.

Q: All right. So Dr. Droge, again, what opinions have you formulated in this matter?MR. GORDON: Same objection, Your Honor.THE COURT: Noted, overruled.

Tr. p. 391, L. 23 through p. 393, L. 13.

Clearly, adequate foundation was laid relative to the science, generally, of biomechanical/biomedical engineering. Per John Droge's testimony, he received his master of science from the Department of Biomedical Engineering at the University of Utah. *Id.* This is a department at the University of Utah. *Id.* This is not some voodoo or junk science, as plaintiff would have this Court believe.

Nevertheless, there was no pre-trial motion filed by plaintiff regarding this issue – despite the interim two months between the first day of trial on October 19, 2010, and the second day of trial on December 15, 2010. Plaintiff never even requested the deposition of John Droge. Therefore, plaintiff provided no case law or briefing to the trial court, and provided no specific objections to specific opinions or questions. Instead, plaintiff objected to his testimony on these grounds in the middle of John Droge's testimony. Tr. p. 391, L. 23 through p. 393, L. 13.

Further, when the Court offered the plaintiff the opportunity to question John Droge in aid of his objection, plaintiff declined. Tr. p. 392, LL. 5-8. Therefore, the only basis for plaintiff's argument in this regard before the trial court was plaintiff's counsel's unsupported statement that biomechanical engineering is not considered a legitimate science. Tr. p. 392, LL. 7-8. There was nothing more presented by plaintiff in support for his objection. Now, for the first time on appeal, plaintiff cites to case law and makes additional argument not provided to the trial court. Defendant submits plaintiff is precluded from now attempting to make these arguments, as they were not before the trial court. The only thing before the trial court were counsel's unsupported statements, nothing more. Nevertheless, the proper foundation for John Droge was provided. By John Droge's own testimony, biomechanical/biomedical engineering is a valid area of study, and in fact, is an entire department at the University of Utah. Tr. p. 392, L. 13 through p. 393, L. 9.

Furthermore, plaintiff now argues, for the first time on appeal, that specific sections of John Droge's testimony were "unscientific" and "subjective." Plaintiff has cited to specific portions of the trial transcript. However, plaintiff proffered no specific objections to these specific areas of questioning. Therefore, plaintiff has waived any such objections and cannot now be heard to voice the same for the first time on appeal.

Also, plaintiff's argument regarding a *Daubert* inquiry is of interest. In Appellant's Brief, plaintiff argues that "to determine whether scientific knowledge will assist the trier of fact, a trial court must make a two-step inquiry." Appellant's Brief, p. 13. He later argues: "Further, the trial court did not act consistent with applicable legal standards because expert testimony is not admissible unless the trial court makes a two-step inquiry to ensure the underlying scientific principles are reliable and were properly applied." Appellant's Brief, p. 17. Plaintiff appears to argue that before any expert witness called by any party can testify, the trial court, on its own volition, must make this inquiry. This is inaccurate. It is the parties' responsibility to raise such issues. *See e.g., Harris v. Sawtelle Rentals, Inc.*, 133 Idaho 139, 204, 984 P.2d 122, 127 (1999).

Plaintiff never raised the issue of whether the underlying scientific principles of John Droge's opinions were reliable. Instead, plaintiff merely made a general objection that biomechanical engineering is not a legitimate science. Again, there was nothing provided by plaintiff to the trial court in support of his objection but the bare assertion of counsel, and nothing more. Defendant submits this is not sufficient to trigger a full *Daubert* inquiry. In the cases now relied upon by plaintiff on appeal, there were separate pre-trial motions on the issue, and, at times, full evidentiary hearings. No such situation was created by plaintiff in the case at bar. Instead, plaintiff relied upon an eleventh-hour general verbal objection, supported by nothing more than counsel's arguments.

Plaintiff cites to *Reali v. Mazda Motor of America, Inc.*, 106 F.Supp. 2d 75 (D. Me. 2000), in which the plaintiff was a front seat passenger in a Mazda when the Mazda was rearended. *Id.* at 76. He suffered "difuse axonal injury, a form of mild traumatic brain injury." *Id.* He filed suit against Mazda, claiming a defectively designed seat caused his injuries. *Id.* Plaintiff retained a biomechanical engineer in his case. *Id.* The defendant filed for summary judgment, and filed a motion in limine to exclude portions of the plaintiff's biomechanical engineer's testimony. *Id.* A review of the *Reali* opinion shows the parties provided a clear record to the trial court relative to proposed testimony, and the specific issues in dispute, such as the "threshold level at which angular acceleration velocity leads to diffuse axonal injury." *Id. at 77.* Contrary to plaintiff Mr. Hansen's assertions that the *Reali* court excluded all of the biomechanical engineer's testimony, the *Reali* court allowed the biomechanical engineer to testify on a number of issues, including the threshold level, described above. *Id.* at 77.

For the first time on appeal, plaintiff now apparently argues John Droge's testimony regarding Delta V forces is objectionable, based upon the *Reali* case. Plaintiff did not object to this testimony at trial of this matter. Tr. p. 398, L. 9 through p. 401, L. 9. Again, plaintiff only objected at the beginning of John Droge's testimony on the grounds biomechanical engineering

is not a legitimate science. Tr. p. 392, LL. 7-8. There was no specific objection, ever, relative to John Droge testifying about velocity.

Furthermore, while plaintiff wants to attempt to liken John Droge's trial testimony to the *Reali* deposition testimony of plaintiff's expert, he fails. Since neither *Reali* nor this argument were before the trial court, this is a moot issue. Nevertheless, John Droge testified his opinions were based upon the deposition testimony, photographs of the vehicles, and repair estimates for the vehicles, which were then validated using real world crashes with known speeds and simulations. Tr. p. 391, LL. 1-13; p. 398, L. 13 through p. 399, L. 10; Tr. p. 398, LL. 14-16. While plaintiff attempts to characterize John Droge's opinions as an "initial gut feeling," and "eyeball guess" (Appellant's Brief, p. 16), this is an absolute mischaracterization of John Droge's testimony. Of interest, the *Reali* court's ruling that plaintiff's expert's Delta V figure was unreliable was based on plaintiff's failure to produce evidence this is an acceptable way to determine Delta V in response to defendant's specific motion regarding this issue. Id. at 77-78. In the case at bar, since plaintiff never raised this issue below, neither defendant nor the court had an opportunity to address this issue. Therefore, plaintiff cannot now be heard to say defendant presented no evidence, when plaintiff did not raise the issue so that any such evidence was required. However, John Droge's testimony goes beyond the testimony of the expert in Reali and clearly he did more than the expert in *Reali*.

Plaintiff also relies upon *Hallmark v. Eldridge*, 189 P.2d 646 (Nev. 2008). Once again, in that case, a motion was filed prior to trial to attempt to preclude the testimony of the biomechanical engineer. *Id.* at 649. Therefore, the parties, and the court, had an opportunity to fully evaluate the motion. The Supreme Court of Nevada actually found on appeal that the trial court had **not** abused its discretion when it determined the expert, Dr. Bowles, was qualified as

an expert. *Id.* at 651. Dr. Bowles held a bachelors of science degree in mechanical engineering and a doctorate in medicine (*Id.*) as compared to John Droge's master of science in biomechanical/biomedical engineering from the University of Utah. Tr. p. 393, LL. 6-9. The *Hallmark* court then proceeded to review Nevada's version of the *Daubert* factors. *Id.* 651-654. Courts should review these issues on a case-by-case basis. While the *Hallmark* court ultimately found the trial court should not have let Dr. Bowles testify to his opinions (*Id.* at 652). This was on grounds not raised by plaintiff in the case at bar. Furthermore, other courts have allowed biomechanical/biomedical engineers to testify. *See e.g. Bowers v. Norfolk Southern Corp. et al*, 537 F.Supp.2d 1343 (M.D. Georgia 2007); *Yarchak v. Trek Bicycle Corp.*, 208 F.Supp.2d 470 (N.J. 2002). In particular, the *Bowers* court surveyed other case law and stated "biomechanical engineers typically are found to be qualified to render an opinion as to the forces generated in a particular accident and the general types of injuries those forces may generate." *Id.* at 1377.<sup>9</sup>

John Droge was qualified to testify at trial of this matter. Nevertheless, even if this court believes it was an error for him to testify at trial, any such error was harmless since the question of causation became moot with the jury's apportionment of negligence between the parties.

In conclusion, each of plaintiff's three prongs of his attack on defendant's experts fails. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying plaintiff's unsupported, eleventh-hour motions to attempt to preclude defendant's experts from testifying. Furthermore, plaintiff has failed to preserve many of the arguments he now makes on appeal. Finally, most of plaintiff's arguments are related to testimony rendered moot and harmless given the jury's apportionment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Part of the motion by the opposing party in *Bowers* was to limit the expert so he could not testify as to specific causation. *Id.* 1377-78. No such motion or objection was ever made by Mr. Hansen.

of negligence. Defendant's experts testified properly and appropriately, and the trial court's rulings in this regard should be affirmed.

#### П.

# PLAINTIFF WAIVED OBJECTIONS TO VIDEO TRIAL DEPOSITION; OBJECTIONS WERE UNSUPPORTED; ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS

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